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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

 

1. REPORTING ENTITY 

 

Habib Bank Limited (Kenya Branch) (the “Bank” or “Branch” or ‘’HBL Kenya’’) is a branch of Habib Bank Limited, which is 

incorporated in Pakistan (the head office). Habib Bank Limited (Kenya Branch) is licensed to operate as a bank under the 

Kenyan Banking Act, and is domiciled in Kenya. The address of its registered office is shown on Page 3. The Branch is 

primarily involved in commercial banking and related services. 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below: 

 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 

as required by the Kenyan Companies Act (cap 486). 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except where stated otherwise in the accounting 

policies below. 

 

These financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings (Kshs), which is the Bank’s functional currency. 

 

For purposes of reporting under the Kenyan Companies Act, the balance sheet in these financial statements is represented 

by the statement of financial position and the profit and loss account is represented by the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income. 

 

2.2 Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions 
 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities at the 

date of the financial statements and the income and expenses during the reporting period, and the accompanying 

disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Although these estimates are based on the directors’ best 

knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are accounted 

for prospectively.  

 
 
Judgements 
 
In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have 

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

 

Going concern 

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that 

the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware 

of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis. 
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.2 Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions (continued) 
 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year, are described below. The Bank based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the 

financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may 

change due to market changes or circumstances beyond the control of the Bank. Such changes are reflected in the 

assumptions when they occur. 
 
Impairment losses on loans and advances 

The Bank reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment 

loss should be recorded in profit or loss. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the 

amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Bank 

makes judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the net realisable value of collateral. These estimates are 

based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the 

allowance. 
 
Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually insignificant 

loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine 

whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are 

not yet evident. The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, levels of 

arrears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios etc.), concentrations of risks and economic data (including levels of 

unemployment, real estate prices indices, country risk and the performance of different individual groups). The 

impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in more detail in Note 15. 
 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures   
 
New and amended standards and interpretations 

The Bank applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2015. The Bank has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has 

been issued but is not yet effective. 
 
The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed below. Although these new standards and amendments applied 

for the first time in 2015, they did not have a material impact on the annual financial statements of the Bank.  
 

 Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 
 Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle 

- IFRS 2: Share-based Payment 
- IFRS 3: Business Combinations 
- IFRS 8: Operating Segments 
- IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets 
- IAS 24: Related Party Disclosures 

 Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle 
- IFRS 3: Business Combinations 
- IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement 
- IAS 40: Investment Property 
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

The nature and the impact of the relevant standards or amendments to the Bank are described below: 
 

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 
IAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when accounting for defined benefit 

plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they should be attributed to periods of service as a negative 

benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of 

service, an entity is permitted to recognise such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which 

the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service. This amendment is effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. This amendment is not relevant to the Bank, since the Bank does not 

have a defined benefit plan. 

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle 
With the exception of the improvement relating to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment applied to share-based payment 

transactions with a grant date on or after 1 July 2014, all other improvements are effective for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 1 July 2014. The Bank has applied these improvements for the first time in these financial 

statements.  

 

They include: 

 
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets 
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that the asset may be revalued by 

reference to observable data by either adjusting the gross carrying amount of the asset to market value or by 

determining the market value of the carrying value and adjusting the gross carrying amount proportionately so that the 

resulting carrying amount equals the market value. In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortisation is the 

difference between the gross and carrying amounts of the asset. This amendment did not have any impact on the Bank 

since its assets are carried at cost. 

 

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity (an entity that provides key 

management personnel services) is a related party subject to the related party disclosures. In addition, an entity that 

uses a management entity is required to disclose the expenses incurred for management services. This amendment is 

not relevant for the Bank as it does not receive any management services from other entities. 

 

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle 
These improvements are effective from 1 July 2014 and the Bank has applied these amendments for the first time in 

these financial statements. The amendment that is relevant for the Bank is as shown below: 

 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 can be applied not only to 

financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope of IAS 39. The Bank does not apply 

the portfolio exception in IFRS 13.  
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 

 

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 
 

Standards issued but not effective 
 

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Bank’s financial 

statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective. 

 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the 

accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Except for hedge 

accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information is not compulsory. For hedge 

accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. The adoption of IFRS 9 will 

have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Bank’s financial assets, and the Bank is in the process of 

determining the impact of the change on the classification and measurement of the Bank’s financial liabilities. 
 

a) Classification and measurement 
The Bank does not expect a significant impact on its statement of financial position or equity on applying the 

classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. The Bank currently has no financial instruments measured 

at fair value. Debt securities are expected to be measured at fair value through OCI under IFRS 9 as the Bank expects 

not only to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows but also to sell a significant amount on a relatively 

frequent basis. Loans as well as trade receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give 

rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. Thus, the Bank expects that these will 

continue to be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9. However, the Bank will analyse the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of those instruments in more detail before concluding whether all those instruments meet the criteria 

for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9. 

 

b) Impairment 
IFRS 9 requires the Bank to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and advances to 

customers and trade receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis.  The Bank’s main financial assets affected 

by impairment are loans and advances to customers. The Bank expects to apply the simplified approach and record 

lifetime expected losses on the loans and advances to customers. The Bank does not expect a significant impact on 

its equity due to the secured nature of its loans and advances to customers, but it will need to perform a more 

detailed analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking elements to 

determine the extent of the impact. 

 

c) Hedge accounting 
The Bank does not have hedge relationships.  
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 

 

Standards issued but not effective (continued) 

 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with 

customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects 

to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The new revenue standard will supersede all 

current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full retrospective application or a modified retrospective 

application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Bank 

plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date using the full retrospective method. During 2015, the 

Bank performed a preliminary assessment of IFRS 15, which is subject to changes arising from a more detailed ongoing 

analysis. Furthermore, the Bank is considering the clarifications issued by the IASB in an exposure draft in July 2015 and 

will monitor any further developments. 

 
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 
The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 

requirements. The amendments clarify: 

 The materiality requirements in IAS 1 

 That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial position may 

be disaggregated 

 That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements 

 That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented 

in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently 

reclassified to profit or loss 

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the 

statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI. These amendments are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to 

have any impact on the Bank. 

 

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle 
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. These amendments are not 

expected to have any impact on the Bank.  

 

They include: 

 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
 

a) Servicing contracts 
The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a 

financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for 

continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of 

which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the 

required disclosures would not need to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which 

the entity first applies the amendments. 
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 

 

Standards issued but not effective (continued) 

 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (continued) 
 

b) Servicing contracts 
The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a 

financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for 

continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of 

which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the required 

disclosures would not need to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which the entity 

first applies the amendments. 

 

c) Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements 
The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to condensed interim financial 

statements, unless such disclosures provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent 

annual report. This amendment must be applied retrospectively. 

 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits  
The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which 

the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep market for 

high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used. This amendment must be applied 

prospectively. 

 
IFRS 16 Leases  
The IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases on 13 January 2016. The scope of the new standard includes leases of all assets, with 

certain exceptions. A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract that conveys the right to use an asset (the 

underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 

Key features 

 

 The new standard requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model (subject to 

certain exemptions) in a similar way to finance leases under IAS 17. 

 Lessees recognise a liability to pay rentals with a corresponding asset, and recognise interest expense and 

depreciation separately. 

 The new standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal 

computer) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). 

 Reassessment of certain key considerations (e.g., lease term, variable rents based on an index or rate, discount 

rate) by the lessee is required upon certain events. 

 Lessor accounting is substantially the same as today’s lessor accounting, using IAS 17’s dual classification 

approach. 

 

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, but 

not before an entity applies IFRS 15. The new standard permits a lessee to choose either a full retrospective or a modified 

retrospective transition approach. 
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting policies  
 

(a) Recognition of income and expenses, and fees and commissions  
 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the 

revenue can be reliably measured. Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss on the accrual basis.  
 

(i) Interest 
 

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the 

expected life of a financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of 

the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial 

asset and liability.  

 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees paid or received transaction costs, and discounts 

or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that 

are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or liability. 

 

Interest income and expense presented in profit or loss include: 
 

 Interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis 

 Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered to be incidental to the 

Bank’s trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of trading 

assets and liabilities in net trading income. 
 

(ii) Fees and commission income 
 
Fees and commission income that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are 

included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. 
 

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, are recognised as the related services are 

performed. 
 

(b) Foreign currency translations 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted to Kenya Shillings at the exchange rates ruling at the 

date of the transaction.  Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date are retranslated into 

the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. Resulting exchange differences are recognised in profit 

or loss under other operating income or expenses. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currency are recorded at the exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. 
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Property and equipment  
 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost 

includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of replacing part of an 

item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 

economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of 

the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an 

item of property and equipment.  
 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

Leasehold improvements   5 years 

Motor vehicles and cycles   5 years 

Furniture and fixtures    5 years   

Office equipment    5 years 

Personal computers    3 years 

 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted prospectively, as a change in an estimate, if appropriate. 

 

Derecognition of property and equipment  

 

Property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use.  

 

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to the carrying amount and 

proceeds received on disposal and are recognised net within other operating income/expenses in profit or loss. 

 

(d) Employee benefits 
 

(i) Retirement benefits schemes 

 

The majority of the Bank’s employees are eligible for retirement benefits under a defined contribution plan. 

Obligations for contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as 

incurred. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 

future payments is available.  

 

The employees of the Bank also contribute to the National Social Security Fund. Contributions are determined 

by local statute and the Bank’s contributions are charged to profit or loss under operating expenses in the year 

to which they relate. 

 

(ii)  Short-term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis due to the short term nature 

of the balances and are expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is recognised for the amount 

expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Bank has a present legal and constructive obligation to 

pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, the obligation can be estimated reliably 

and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation. 
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(d) Employee benefits (continued) 
 

(iii) Gratuity 
 

In addition, the Bank has a gratuity arrangement in which the benefits provided is a cash lump sum of one 

month’s basic pay for each completed year of service with the Bank provided a minimum of fifteen year service 

has been completed. 
 

The benefit is payable on normal retirement age (55 years), on early retirement, on ill health, on death in 

service, on withdrawal or on redundancy. Employees who have not completed fifteen years of service or are 

dismissed from service due to misconduct are not entitled to any benefit under the arrangement. 

 

The Bank classifies the gratuity provision as “other long-term employee benefits”. The Bank recognises the net 

total of the service costs, net interest on the long-service benefit and remeasurements of the long-service 

benefit, if any, in the profit or loss under operating expenses. 

 

The gratuity arrangement is unfunded but a provision is made in the Bank’s books of account to meet the cost 

accrued benefits. 

 

The Bank’s gratuity arrangement is subjected to valuation by independent actuaries after every two years. The 

gratuity was revalued as at 31 December 2015 by Alexander Forbes Financial Services (East Africa) Limited. The 

actuarial method used to determine the unfunded accrued liability and the notional Bank contribution for future 

accrual of gratuity benefit is projected unit method. 

 

(iv)  Provision for leave pay 
 
Employee benefits in the form of annual leave entitlements are provided for when they accrue to employees with 

reference to services rendered up to the reporting date. Employees are entitled to carry forward a maximum of 

15 leave working days per annum which should be fully utilised by end of March the following year. 

 

(e) Tax 
 

Current income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current tax and change in deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income. Current 

tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date and 

any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
 Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes, except for:- 
 

- Where the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss; and, 

- �In respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 

joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable 

that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Tax (continued) 
 

 Deferred tax (continued) 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax losses and 

unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 

deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 

is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

at the reporting date. 
 
Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity are also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or equity and not in profit or loss. 
 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 

 

Bank services are VAT exempt and expenses and assets are recognised gross of the amount of VAT. 
 

(f) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows in the financial statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash 

and balances with Central Bank of Kenya excluding the cash ratio reserve, net balances from banking institutions, 

uncleared effects and investment in government securities and commercial paper with a maturity of three months or 

less from the date of acquisition. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. 

 

(g) Recognition and measurement of financial instruments 
 

(i) Date of recognition and initial measurement of financial instruments 
 

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial 

liability of another enterprise.  

 

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of 

financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or 

convention in the market place. 

 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their purpose and characteristics 

and the management’s intention in acquiring them. Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value 

including transaction costs except for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss which 

are recognised excluding transaction costs.  
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 (g) Recognition and measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 

(i) Date of recognition and initial measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 

The Bank’s classification of financial assets and financial liabilities is as follows: 

 

Description of asset/liability Classification 

Investments in government securities-Treasury bonds Held  to maturity investments 

Investments in government securities-Treasury bills Loans and receivables 

Investment in commercial paper Loans and receivables 

Cash and cash equivalents-cash and bank balances  Loans and receivables 

Loans and advances to customers Loans and receivables 

Customers deposits  Other liabilities at amortised cost 

Amounts due to foreign banks and branches Other liabilities at amortised cost 

Other Liabilities Other liabilities at amortised cost 

 

(ii) Subsequent measurement 
 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows: 
 
Held-to-maturity 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturities that management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Where a sale occurs, 

other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and 

classified as available-for-sale.  The assets are carried at amortised cost.  Amortised cost is calculated using 

the EIR method and takes into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral 

part of the EIR. The amortisation is included in ‘interest income’ in profit or loss. The losses arising from 

impairment of such investments are recognised in profit or loss under finance costs. 
 
Included in this category are treasury bonds, which are debt securities issued by the Government of Kenya.  

Loans and advances to customers and receivables 
Loans and advances to customers and receivables include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than: 

 Those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the near term and those that the Bank, upon initial 

recognition, designates as at fair value through profit or loss 

 Those that the Bank, upon initial recognition, designates as available-for-sale 

 Those for which the Bank may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of 

credit deterioration 

 

After initial measurement, amounts due from foreign banks and branches, loans and advances to customers 

and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR), less 

allowance for impairment, if any. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 

on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The amortisation is included in Interest 

income in profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment of loans and advances to customers are recognised 

as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income whereas those arising 

from other receivables are recognised in profit and loss under other operating expenses. 
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HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(g) Recognition and measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 

(ii) Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

Loans and payables at amortised cost 

After initial recognition, these are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortised 

cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral 

part of the EIR. This category generally applies to customer deposits, deposits due to other banks and branches, 

and other liabilities. 
 

a) Customer deposits 

    Customer deposits include call, fixed, current account and savings deposits.  
 

b) Amounts due to foreign banks and branches 
Amounts due to foreign banks and branches include inter-bank placements and deposits from HBL branches 

 

c) Other liabilities 

Financial liabilities under other liabilities include bills payables and other payables. 
 

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income or expense is recorded using the EIR. 
 

(iii)  Derecognition 
 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

derecognised when: 

 receive cash flows from the asset have expired 

 Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset but retains the contractual rights 

to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 

flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement; and either: 

o  

o he risks and rewards of the asset, 

but has transferred control of the asset. 

 

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass–through 

arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor 

transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the 

asset. In that case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 

liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained. Continuing 

involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 

original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be 

required to repay. 
 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 

treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between 

the carrying amount of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.    
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(g) Recognition and measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 

 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported on the statement of financial position when 

there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amount and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 

or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and 

losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activities. 
 

(h) Identification and measurement of impairment of financial assets 
 

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair 

value through profit or loss are impaired. Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a 

loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the future 

cash flows on the asset than can be estimated reliably. 

 

The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant 

financial assets are assessed for specific impairment. All significant assets found not to be specifically impaired are 

then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not 

individually significant are then collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together financial assets (carried at 

amortised cost) with similar risk characteristics. 

 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring 

of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or 

issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other observable data relating to 

a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic 

conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. 

 

In assessing collective impairment the Bank uses statistical modelling of historical trends of the probability of 

default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether 

current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested 

by historical modelling. Default rate, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly 

benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate. 
 

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the carrying amount 

of the financial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the assets’ original effective 

interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and 

advances. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. 
 

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the impairment loss is reversed through 

profit or loss. 
 

Where impairment losses required by regulation exceed those computed under IFRS, the excess is recognised as 

statutory credit risk reserve and is accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings. The statutory credit risk 

reserve is non-distributable. 
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2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(i) Impairment for non-financial assets 

 

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Bank estimates the asset’s 

recoverable amount. 
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of 

disposal and its value in use. The CGU is used when assessing for impairment. Where the carrying amount of an asset 

or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 

amount.  

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

In determining fair value less costs of disposal, an appropriate valuation model is used. Impairment losses are 

recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

 

For all assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Bank 

estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there 

has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 

loss was recognised.  

 

The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, or the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(j) Contingent liabilities 

 

Letters of credit, acceptances, guarantees and performance bonds are accounted for as off statement of financial 

position items and disclosed as contingent liabilities. Estimates of the outcome and of the financial effect of 

contingent liabilities is made by the management based on the information available up to the date the financial 

statements are approved for issue by management. Any expected loss is charged to profit or loss. 
 

(k) Related parties 

 

In the normal course of business, transactions have been entered with certain related parties.  

 

(l) Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(m) Leasing 

 

(i) Determination 

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the 

arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use 

of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

 
(ii) Bank as a lessee 

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership is retained by the lessor are classified 

as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the period of the lease. Contingent rentals payable are recognised as expenses in the period in which they 

are incurred. 

 

Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 

lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be 

made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place. 
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Introduction and overview 

 

The Branch has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

 

 credit risk 

 liquidity risk 

 market risks 

 

This note presents information about the Branch’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Branch’s objectives, policies 

and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Branch’s management of capital. 
 
Risk management framework 

 

The Risk Management function of the Bank is centralized at the Risk Management Division (RMD) in head office, 

Karachi. All the organs of the Risk Management e.g. the Board Risk Management Committee, the Management Risk 

Committee and the Chief Risk Officer are based in our head office. Being a branch office of Habib Bank Ltd, Pakistan, 

the overall responsibility for implementing the Risk Management framework and the associated Risk Management 

policies lies with the Local Risk Management Committee (RMC) which reports to the Local Management Committee 

(LMC). 

 

The Bank’s Internal Audit undertakes both regular and adhoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the 

results of which are reported to the Board’s Audit committee. 

 

(a) Credit risk 

 

Credit Risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counter party to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and advances to customers and 

balances with other banks and investment securities. 

 

Management of credit risk 

 

Credit risk makes up the largest part of Bank’s risk exposure. The Bank’s credit process is guided by centrally 

established credit policies, rules and guidelines with an aim to maintaining a well-diversified portfolio of credit 

risk which produces a reliable and consistent return. The Bank has a system of checks and balances in place 

around the extension of credit that are: 
 

 an independent risk management function 

 multiple credit approvers (Minimum three initials) 

 an independent audit and risk review function. 
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(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Management of credit risk (continued) 
 

Salient features of risk approval process are outlined below: 
 

 Every extension of credit to any counter party requires approval by the pre-defined level of authority. 

 Every material change to a credit facility requires approval at the appropriate / pre-defined level. 

 Credit approval authority is assigned to individuals at the Branch, regional office and head office level according to 

their qualifications and experience. Credit facilities are approved by competent credit authorities at each level 

based on the content, limit and the proposed facility. 

 Certain groups of exposures / facilities are managed under product programmes which are approved by various 

levels of approving authorities as defined in the credit policy manual. Each product programme contains detailed 

credit criteria, regulatory compliance and documentation requirement. 

 The Bank uses risk rating system to supplement the credit risk measurement procedure for exposures exceeding a 

certain threshold. Risk rating of counterparties is an essential requirement of credit approval process. 

 The disbursement, administration and monitoring of credit facilities are managed by Credit Administration 

Department (CAD) which operates under the Risk Management Group. CAD is also responsible for 

collateral/documents management.  
 

Credit risk related to commitments and guarantees  
 

The Bank makes available to its customers guarantees that may require that the Bank makes payments on their behalf 

and enters into commitments to extend credit lines to secure their liquidity needs. Letters of credit and guarantees 

(including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a 

specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods. Such commitments expose the Bank to similar risks as 

loans and are mitigated by the same control processes and policies. The Bank’s maximum credit risk exposure for 

commitments and guarantees is disclosed in Note 26. The maximum exposure to credit risk relating to a financial 

guarantee is the maximum amount the Bank could have to pay if the guarantee is called upon. The maximum exposure 

to credit risk relating to a loan commitment is the full amount of the commitment. 
 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held is as follows: 
 

 

2015 2014 

 

KShs KShs 

Items recognised in the statement of financial position 
  

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 538,163,268 456,257,145 

Investments in Government securities 5,045,333,528 4,064,631,465 

Investment in commercial paper 170,533,922 566,074,672 

Balances with banks and branches 322,734,959 210,267,262 

Loans and advances to customers   4,120,534,965  4,159,080,836 

   

 

10,197,300,642  9,456,311,380 

Items not recognised in the statement of financial position: 

  Irrevocable letters of credit 356,679,912 343,894,832 

Guarantees 557,162,258     355,384,599 

   

 

913,842,170     699,279,431 

 

 
 

Total 11,111,142,812 10,155,590,811 
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(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit risk related to commitments and guarantees (continued) 
 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held (continued) 
 

The above table represents a worst-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2015 and 31 

December 2014 without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancement attached.  For assets 

recognised in the statement of financial position, the exposures set out above are based on the carrying amount. 
 

Loans and advances to customers are secured by collateral in the form of charges over cash, land and buildings and/or 

plant and machinery or corporate guarantees. Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain 

minimal exposure of credit risk to the Bank resulting from both its loans and advances portfolio and debt securities. 

 

The Bank’s internal risk rating scale for credit risk which is in line with Central Bank of Kenya’s prudential guidelines is as 

follows: 
 

Grade 1  -  Normal risk 
Grade 2  -  Watch risk 

Grade 3  -  Substandard risk 

Grade 4  -  Doubtful risk 

Grade 5  -  Loss 
 

Impairment and provisioning policies 
 

The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loans and 

advances portfolio. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually 

significant exposures.  The second component is in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been identified 

in relation to the loans and advances portfolio that is not specifically impaired. 
 

The impairment provision shown in the statement of financial position at year-end is derived from each of the five internal 

rating grades. However, the impairment provision is composed largely of the bottom two grades. 
 
The table below summarises the Bank’s loans and advances for each internal rating category and the associated 

impairment provision: 

 

31 December 2015 Gross amount Impairment Net carrying amount 

    
Grade 1- Normal 3,348,901,188 (22,303,217) 3,326,597,971 

Grade 2- Watch            337,381,100  - 337,381,100 

Grade 3- Substandard - - - 

Grade 4- Doubtful 434,252,677 (152,085,438) 282,167,239 

Grade 5- Loss                           -                        -                           - 

    

 
4,120,534,965 (174,388,655) 3,946,146,310 

 

   

31 December 2014 

   Grade 1- Normal 3,817,020,000 (18,534,433) 3,798,485,567 

Grade 2- Watch - - - 

Grade 3- Substandard - - - 

Grade 4- Doubtful 342,060,836 (100,545,033) 241,515,803 

Grade 5- Loss                           -                        -                           - 

 
   

 

4,159,080,836 (119,079,466) 4,040,001,370 
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(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Impairment and provisioning policies (continued) 

 

Grade 1-Normal 
All loans are performing in accordance with the contractual terms and are expected to continue doing so.  Loans in this 

category are fully protected by the current sound net worth and paying capacity of the borrower. 
 
Grade 2-Watch 
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate 

the contrary.   

 
Grade 3, 4 and 5-Substandard, doubtful risk and loss 
Impaired loans are loans for which the Bank determines that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and 

interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreements. These loans are graded 4 to 5 in the Bank’s 

internal credit risk grading system.  

 

The aging analysis of the loans and advances is as follows 

 

 

Collectively impaired Individually impaired Total 

 

Neither past due 

nor impaired 

Past due but 

not impaired Past due and Impaired 

 

 

Normal Substandard Doubtful  Loss  

 

 

> 30 Days 91-180 days 181-360 days > 360 days 

 31-Dec-15 

     Gross 3,686,282,288 - 434,252,677 - 4,120,534,965 

Impairment    (22,303,217)               - (152,085,438)                 - (174,388,655) 

      

Net carrying 

amount 

 

3,663,979,071 

 

              - 

 

   282,167,239 

 

                - 3,946,146,310 

      31-Dec-14 

     Gross 3,817,020,000 - 342,060,836 - 4,159,080,836 

Impairment     (18,534,433)               - (100,545,033)                 -  (119,079,466) 

      

Net carrying 

amount 

 

3,798,485,567 

 

              - 

 

241,515,803 

 

                - 4,040,001,370 

 
Past due but not impaired loans 
These are loans where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Bank believes that impairment is not 

appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the 

Bank. 

 

Impaired loans and securities 

 

Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which the Bank determines that it is probable that it will be 

unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan/securities agreement(s). 

 
Loans with renegotiated terms 

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial 

position and where the Bank has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once the loan is restructured it 

remains in this category independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring. 
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(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Write-off policy 

 

The Bank writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when it determines 

that the loans / securities are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the 

occurrence of significant changes in the borrower/issuer’s financial position such that the borrower / issuer can no 

longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 

 

Collateral on loans and advances  

 

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests over property, 

other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral 

assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are not updated except when a loan is individually assessed as 

impaired. Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except when securities are held as part 

of reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activity. Collateral is usually not held against investment securities, 

and no such collateral was held at 31 December 2015 or 2014. 

 

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against financial assets is shown 

below: 

 

Fair value of collateral held against loans and advances to customers 
 

 
2015 2014 

 
KShs KShs 

 
  Individually impaired property 91,000,000 175,000,000 

Cash collateral 14,390,116 4,500,000 

   Collectively impaired 

  Property 2,302,925,000 3,229,171,753 

Cash collateral     455,392,453    374,540,009 

   Total 2,863,707,569 3,783,211,762 

   

 

There is no collateral held against cash and cash equivalents and investments. 
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(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the 

reporting date is shown below: 

 

Gross loans and advances to customers 

 

 

2015 2014 

 

KShs KShs 

Carrying amount 
  Manufacturing sector 365,831,456 317,897,473 

Wholesale, retail trade   1,915,986,158 1,858,360,897 

Building construction 145,694,147 316,074,755 

Mining and quarrying 20,606,123 19,753,292 

Transport 733,617,165 649,073,527 

Real estate 310,554,100 384,487,366 

Finance and insurance 154,666,891 160,823,268 

Foreign trade 146,815,580 68,437,735 

Individuals 289,468,510 255,997,057 

Others      37,294,835    128,175,466 

   

 

4,120,534,965 4,159,080,836 

 

Settlement risk 

 

The Bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the 

risk of loss due to the failure of a company to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as 

contractually agreed. 
 
For certain types of transactions the Bank mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a settlement / 

clearing agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement 

obligations. Settlement limits form part of the credit approval / limit monitoring process described earlier. 

Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades requires transaction specific or counterparty specific 

approvals from General Manager international risk. 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities. 

 

Management of liquidity risk 

 

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 

unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation.  

 

The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios 

covering both normal and more severe market conditions. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review 

and approval by ALCO. Daily reports cover the liquidity position of the Bank. 
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(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

Exposure to liquidity risk 
 
The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from 

customers. For this purpose, net liquid assets are considered as including cash and cash equivalents and 

government securities for which there is an active and liquid market less any deposits from banks, debt securities 

issued, other borrowings and commitments maturing within the next month. Details of the reported Bank ratio of 

net liquid assets to deposits and customers at the reporting date and during the reporting period are shown below. 

The statutory prescribed minimum liquidity requirement is 20%. 

 

 

2015 2014 

   At 31 December  71.40% 60.60% 

Average for the period 69.51% 59.75% 

Maximum for the period 73.50% 74.20% 

Minimum for the period 59.50% 51.30% 
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(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities 

 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities  as at 31 December. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated 

as if the notice were to be given immediately. However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date it could require to pay and the table does not reflect the 

expected cash flows indicated by its deposit retention history.  
 

 

Up to 1 to 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Total 

   1 month months months years 
 

 

KShs KShs       KShs KShs KShs 

At 31 December 2015: 
 

    

      FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

    

      Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 538,163,268                     - - - 538,163,268 

Balances with banks and branches 322,734,959                       - - - 322,734,959 

Investment in government securities  650,000,000  1,802,451,293   2,524,342,500  637,887,000  5,614,680,793 

Investment in commercial paper                           - 170,533,922                          -                         -     170,533,922 

 
     

Total financial assets 1,510,898,227 1,972,985,215 2,524,342,500 637,887,000 6,646,112,942 

      FINANCIAL LIABILITIES      

      

Amounts due to foreign and local banks  1,004,447,231                     - - - 1,004,447,231 

Customers deposits 5,697,741,539 12,417,063 1,151,095,750 - 6,861,254,352 

Other liabilities                              -                           -         73,547,227                              -          73,547,227 

      Total financial liabilities   6,702,188,770       12,417,063 1,224,642,977                              -    7,939,248,810 

 

     

Net liquidity gap -  (5,191,290,543)  1,960,568,152   1,299,699,523        637,887,000   (1,293,135,868) 

 

     

Cumulative gap  (5,191,290,543)  (3,230,722,391)  (1,931,022,868)  (1,293,135,868) (1,293,135,868) 
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(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

 

Up to 1 to 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Total 

   1 month months months Years 
 

 

KShs KShs KShs KShs KShs 

At 31 December 2014: 
 

    

      FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

    

      Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 456,257,145 - - - 456,257,145 

Balances with banks and branches 210,267,262 - - - 210,267,262 

Investment in government securities  200,000,000   936,129,474   2,423,015,000   948,568,500   4,507,712,974  

Investment in commercial paper                            -     566,074,672                          -                         -      566,074,672 

 
     Total financial assets     866,524,407 1,502,204,146 2,423,015,000 948,568,500   5,740,312,053 

      FINANCIAL LIABILITIES      

      

Amounts due to foreign and local banks  991,359,909 - - - 991,359,909 

Customers deposits 3,552,023,104 1,741,753,193 1,105,167,398 - 6,398,943,695 

Other liabilities                            -                             -       69,498,517                          -         69,498,517 

      Total financial liabilities  4,543,383,013   1,741,753,193   1,174,665,915                          -   7,459,802,121  

 

     

Net liquidity gap -  (3,676,858,606)    (239,549,047)  1,248,349,085    948,568,500   (1,719,490,068) 

 

     

Cumulative gap  (3,676,858,606)  (3,916,407,653)  (2,668,058,568)  (1,719,490,068) (1,719,490,068) 
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3.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

(c) Market risks 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange 

rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) that will affect the 

Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 

is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on 

risk. 

 

Overall management for market risk is vested in ALCO. ALCO is responsible for the development of detailed 

risk management policies and for the day-to-day review of their implementation. 

 

i) Exposure to interest rate risk-non-trading portfolios 

 

 The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the 

future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. 

Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps. The ALCO is the 

monitoring body and is assisted by Risk Management in its day-to-day monitoring activities. A summary 

of the Bank’s interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is as follows: 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
(c) Market risk (continued) 

 
i) Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios (continued) 

 
Interest rate gap analysis 
 
The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The table below 

summarises the exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity 

dates: 

2015 
Effective 

interest rate  

 Between 3 months 

and 1 year 

Between 1 year and 

5 years 

  
3 months Non interest  

 
or less bearing Total 

 
% KShs  KShs KShs KShs KShs 

Financial assets 
      

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Kenya - - - - 538,163,268 538,163,268 

Investments in government securities 13.91%  2,076,911,000   2,368,422,528  600,000,000  - 5,045,333,528 

Investment in commercial paper 17.49% 170,533,922 - - - 170,533,922 

Balances with banks and branches 0.00% - - - 322,734,959 322,734,959 

Loans and advances to customers 15.38% 2,274,791,704     917,715,073    753,639,533                         -   3,946,146,310 

       
 Total at 31 December 2015 

 
 4,522,236,626   3,286,137,601   1,353,639,533    860,898,227   10,022,911,987  

       
Financial liabilities 

      
Customers deposits 10.59% 2,182,885,934 1,163,512,813 - 3,514,855,605 6,861,254,352 

Due to foreign and local banks  0.35% 1,004,447,231 - - - 1,004,447,231 

Other liabilities 0.00%                           -                         -                           -       73,547,227       73,547,227 

       
Total at 31 December 2015 

 
3,187,333,165 1,163,512,813                          - 3,588,402,832 7,939,248,810 

     
  Interest sensitivity gap 

 
1,334,903,461 2,122,624,788 1,353,639,533 (2,727,504,605) 2,083,663,177 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

 

i) Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios (Continued) 

 

Interest rate gap analysis (Continued) 

 

2014 
Effective 

interest rate  

 Between 3 months 

and 1 year 

Between 1 year and 

5 years 

  
3 months Non interest  

 
or less bearing Total 

 
% KShs  KShs KShs KShs KShs 

Financial assets 
      

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of 

Kenya 
- - - - 456,257,145 456,257,145 

Investments in government securities 11.15%  987,711,568   2,176,919,897  900,000,000 - 4,064,631,465 

Investment in commercial paper 13.00% 566,074,672 - - - 566,074,672 

Balances with banks and branches 0.00% - - - 210,267,262 210,267,262 

Loans and advances to customers 13.97% 2,260,740,545    950,658,599   828,602,226                          -  4,040,001,370 

       
 Total at 31 December 2014 

 
3,814,526,785 3,127,578,496 1,728,602,226    666,524,407 9,337,231,914 

       
Financial liabilities 

      
Customers deposits 8.58% 3,425,872,491 654,691,056 - 2,318,380,148 6,398,943,695 

Due to foreign and local banks  3.23% 991,359,909 - - - 991,359,909 

Other liabilities 0.00%                           -                         -                          -        69,498,517        69,498,517 

       
Total at 31 December 2014 

 
4,417,232,400 654,691,056                          - 2,387,878,665 7,459,802,121 

  
     Interest sensitivity gap 

 
  (602,705,615)   2,472,887,440   1,728,602,226  (1,721,354,258)   1,877,429,793  



 

39 

HABIB BANK LIMITED 

(KENYA BRANCH) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

 

 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

 

i) Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios (continued) 

 

Interest rate risk exposures on banking book arise on account of mismatches in maturity or repricing of assets and liabilities. Rate sensitive gap is the tool used to judge the Bank’s earnings 

exposure to interest rate movements. The Bank’s interest rate gap over a given period of time is the difference between the value of its assets that mature or reprice during that period and the 

value of its liabilities that mature or reprice during that period. If this difference is large (in either a positive or negative direction) then interest rate changes will have a larger impact on the net 

interest income. To monitor and control exposures taken on account of rate sensitive assets and liabilities, the Sensitivity Analysis of Earnings At Risk approach is used. An analysis of the 

Bank’s sensitivity to parallel rate shift with different scenarios is shown below: 

 

EARNINGS AT RISK - December 2015 
   

Earnings at Risk  Up to 1 month   1 to 3 months   3 to 6 months  6 months to 1 year  Total  

      
Time to Maturity/ Repricing (in months) 1 2 4.5 9 - 

      
 

Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 

      

GAP (RSA - RSL)       (486,346)   (1,332,518)      (1,704,872) (461,689) (3,985,425) 

      Earnings at Risk @ 25 bp Parallel Rate shift (101) (555) (1,598) (866) (3,121) 

Earnings at Risk @ 50 bp Parallel Rate shift (203) (1,110) (3,197) (1,731) (6,241) 

Earnings at Risk @ 100 bp Parallel Rate shift (405) (2,221) (6,393) (3,463) (12,482) 

Earnings at Risk @ 200 bp Parallel Rate shift (811) (4,442) (12,787) (6,925) (24,964) 

Interpretation  

As a result of a 100 bp +ve/-ve Interest Rate Movement, the Bank’s Net Interest Income is likely to change by KShs (12,482,091) and equity by KShs (7,801,307). 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

 

i) Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios (continued) 

 

EARNINGS AT RISK - December 2014 
   

Earnings at Risk  Up to 1 month   1 to 3 months   3 to 6 months  
6 months to 1 

year 
 Total  

      
Time to Maturity/ Repricing (in months) 1 2 4.5 9 - 

      
 

Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 Kshs ‘000 

      

GAP (RSA - RSL) (480,173) (10,331) (2,274,835) 1,705,850 (1,059,489) 

      Earnings at Risk @ 25 bp Parallel Rate shift (100) (4) (2,133) 3,198 961 

Earnings at Risk @ 50 bp Parallel Rate shift (200) (9) (4,265) 6,397 1,923 

Earnings at Risk @ 100 bp Parallel Rate shift (400) (17) (8,531) 12,794 3,846 

Earnings at Risk @ 200 bp Parallel Rate shift (800) (34) (17,061) 25,588 7,693 

Interpretation  

As a result of a 100 bp +ve/-ve Interest Rate Movement, the Bank’s Net Interest Income is likely to change by KShs 3,845,884 and equity by KShs 2,403,678. 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Bank’s assets are typically funded in the same currency as that of the business transacted to eliminate 

foreign exchange exposure. However, at times the Bank has net sum open positions in various currencies due to 

its trade related transactions handled by it. The Bank strives to minimize the potential impact of movements in 

exchange rates on its risk bearing capacity by having currency open position and stop loss limits. Also 

developed are the key risk indicators which are used to pro-actively manage and monitor foreign exchange risk. 

The open position is monitored through foreign exchange exposure limit. The maximum foreign exchange 

exposure at any given time in 2015 was limited to $ 400,000. 

 

Currency risk 
The following exchange rates were applied during the year: 

 

 
Closing Average 

 
2015 2014 2015 2014 

 
KShs KShs KShs KShs 

     USD 102.3114 90.5978 98.6968 87.9235 

EUR 111.7833 110.1708 108.9130 116.8235 

GBP 151.7978 140.9472 150.6436 144.8911 

 

The various currencies to which the Bank is exposed at 31 December 2015 are summarised in the table below 

(all amounts expressed in KShs): 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 

2015 USD GBP EURO OTHER Total 

Assets      

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 70,305,355 1,278,500 984,440 - 72,568,295 

Balances due from banking institutions 293,105,753 25,674,888 2,632,804 1,321,513 322,734,958 

Foreign currency notes and coins 16,406,349 4,847,663 2,074,139 - 23,328,151 

Foreign currency advances 1,180,338,215  -  - - 1,180,338,215 

Other foreign Assets 10,879,775 - - - 10,879,775 

Spot purchases      61,386,840 1,517,978                    -                   -        62,904,818 

      

Total assets 1,632,422,287 33,319,029 5,691,383 1,321,513 1,672,754,212 

      

Liabilities      

Balances due to banking institutions 654,314,494 - - - 654,314,494 

Foreign currency deposits 944,192,945 31,960,884 5,426,809 12,074 981,592,712 

Other foreign liabilities       25,904,411      331,901       28,516                   -       26,264,828 

      

Total liabilities 1,624,411,850 32,292,785 5,455,325      12,074 1,662,172,034 

      

Net financial position 2015       8,010,437   1,026,244   236,058 1,309,439     10,582,178 

      

2014 USD GBP EURO OTHER Total 

Assets      

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 56,964,041 1,224,871 1,048,957 - 59,237,869 

Balances due from banking institutions 124,037,108 55,423,729 29,950,509 855,916 210,267,262 

Foreign currency notes and coins 8,072,626 367,167 640,643 - 9,080,436 

Foreign currency advances 1,505,500,682 - - - 1,505,500,682 

Spot purchases     70,151,000                     -                    -              -      70,151,000 

      

Total assets 1,764,725,457 57,015,767 31,640,109 855,916 1,854,237,249 

Liabilities      

Balances due to banking institutions 991,359,910 - - - 991,359,910 

Foreign currency deposits 800,350,385 55,992,244 33,273,694 - 889,616,323 

Other foreign liabilities         9,518,998       308,107         28,104                -         9,855,209 

      

Total liabilities 1,801,229,293 56,300,351 33,301,798               - 1,890,831,442 

      

Net financial position 2014     (36,503,836)      715,416 (1,661,689) 855,916    (36,594,193) 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

 

A 10 percent strengthening of the Kenya shillings against the following currencies would have increased profit or 

loss before tax and equity by amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 

interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014. 

 

 

Profit or loss before tax  Equity  

 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

 

KShs KShs KShs KShs 

     USD  801,044   (3,650,384) 500,652  (2,281,490) 

GBP  102,624   71,542   64,140   44,714  

Euro  23,606   (166,169)  14,754   (103,856) 

Other  130,944   85,592   81,840   53,495  

     

 

(d) Operational risks 

 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Bank’s 

processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 

risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate 

behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations and are faced by all business entities. 

 

The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to 

the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and 

creativity. 

 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned 

to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Bank 

standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 

 

 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions 

 requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions 

 compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements  

 documentation of controls and procedures 

 requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 

procedures to address the risks identified 

 requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action 

 development of contingency plans 

 training and professional development 

 ethical and business standards 

 risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective. 
 
Compliance with Bank standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal Audit. The 

results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate, with 

summaries submitted to the Audit Committee of the parent company and senior management of the Bank. 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

(e) Capital management 

 

Regulatory capital 
 

The Central Bank of Kenya sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank. In implementing current capital 

requirements The Central Bank of Kenya requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-

weighted assets. 

 

The Bank’s regulatory capital is held in the form of Tier 1 capital. 

 

Banking operations are categorised as either trading book or banking book, and risk-weighted assets are determined 

according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-statement 

of financial position exposures. 

 

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 

to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also 

recognised and the Bank recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be 

possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 

 

The Bank has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the period. 

 

There have been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the period. 
 
The Bank’s regulatory capital position at 31 December was as follows: 

 

 
2015 2014 

 
KShs KShs 

Tier 1 capital 
  

Ordinary share capital 1,044,226,302 1,044,226,302 

Retained earnings and reserves     811,887,165    801,351,157 

   Total regulatory capital 1,856,113,467 1, 845,577,459 

   Risk-weighted assets   

   Retail bank, corporate bank and central treasury 5,776,330,225 5,802,947,850 

   Total risk-weighted asset  5,776,330,225  5,802,947,850 

 
  

Capital ratios   

   Total regulatory capital expressed 

  as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets 32.10% 31.80% 

   Total tier 1 (core) capital expressed as 
 

 a percentage of risk-weighted assets 32.10% 31.80% 

 

The Central Bank of Kenya requires a minimum statutory ratio for core capital to total risk weighted assets to be 

above 10.5%. 

 

The Central Bank of Kenya requires a minimum statutory ratio for total capital to total risk weighted assets to be 

above 14.5%. 
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a) Comparison by class of the carrying amount and fair values of the financial instruments: 
 

The table below sets out the Bank’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and comparison of the carrying amount and their fair (excluding accrued interest): 
 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015: Held to maturity Loans and receivables 
           Other liabilities at 

amortized cost 
Total fair value Carrying amount 

 KShs KShs KShs KShs KShs 

Assets      

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya - 538,163,268 - 538,163,268 538,163,268 

Balances with banks and branches - 322,734,959 - 322,734,959 322,734,959 

Investments in government securities 4,927,349,810 - -   4,927,349,810 5,045,333,528 

Investments in commercial paper 170,533,922 - - 170,533,922 170,533,922 

Loans and advances to customers                           - 3,946,146,310                         -  3,946,146,310 3,946,146,310 

      

Total assets 5,097,883,732 4,807,044,537                          - 9,904,928,269 10,022,911,987 

      

Other liabilities-bills payable and items in transit - - 73,547,227 73,547,227 73,547,227 

Deposits and balances due to banking institutions - - 1,004,447,231 1,004,447,231 1,004,447,231 

Customers’ deposits                          -                           - 6,861,254,352 6,861,254,352 6,861,254,352 

       

Total liabilities                          -                           - 7,939,248,810 7,939,248,810 7,939,248,810 

      

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014: Held to maturity Loans and receivables 

           Other liabilities at 

amortized cost Total fair value 

Carrying amount 

 

KShs 

 

 KShs KShs KShs KShs 

Assets     

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya - 456,257,145 - 456,257,145 456,257,145 

Balances with banks and branches - 210,267,262 - 210,267,262 210,267,262 

Investments in government securities 3,926,120,459 - - 3,926,120,459 4,064,631,465 

Investments in commercial paper 566,074,672 - - 566,074,672 566,074,672 

Loans and advances to customers                           - 4,040,001,370                         -  4,040,001,370 4,040,001,370 

      

Total assets 4,492,195,131 4,706,525,777                          - 9,198,720,908 9,337,231,914 

      

Other liabilities-bills payable and items in transit  - -  69,498,517   69,498,517   69,498,517  

Deposits and balances due to banking institutions - - 991,359,909 991,359,909 991,359,909 

Customers’ deposits                          -                           - 6,398,943,695 6,398,943,695  6,398,943,695 

      

Total liabilities                          -                           - 7,459,802,121 7,459,802,121 7,459,802,121 
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND THEIR FAIR VALUES (continued) 
 

a) Comparison by class of the carrying amount and fair values of the financial instruments (continued) 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 

transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

  

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Bank. 

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 

pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 

Fair value of financial assets 
Management assessed that cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya, balances with foreign banks and branches 

and commercial papers approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 
 

Loans and advances to customers are evaluated by the Bank based on parameters such as interest rates, individual 

creditworthiness of the customer and the risk characteristics of the collateral held. Based on this evaluation, impairment 

losses are taken into account for the expected losses of these loans and advances. As at 31 December 2015, the 

carrying amounts of such loans and advances, net of impairment allowances, were not materially different from their 

calculated fair values. 
 

Fair values of investments in government securities and investment in commercial papers are derived from quoted 

market prices in active markets. 

 

Fair value of financial liabilities 
Bills payable and amounts due to foreign banks and branches are financial liabilities that have a short term maturity (less 

than three months). Their carrying amounts approximate their fair value.  
 

Customers’ deposits that include demand deposits, savings accounts and current accounts without a specific maturity. 

Their carrying amounts also approximate their fair value.  The fair value of term deposits carried is estimated by 

comparing market interest rates when they were first recognised with current market interest rates for similar financial 

instruments. The estimated fair value of term deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing current market 

deposit interest rates. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of these deposits were not materially different 

from their calculated fair values. 
 

b) Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

The Bank groups its financial instruments into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable, as 

follows: 

 Level 1 – use quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 Level 2 – use inputs for the asset or liability other than quoted prices, that are observable either directly or indirectly 

 Level 3 – use inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data such as internal models or 

other valuation methods. 
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In 2015, the Bank had no assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in its statement of financial position (2014-

nil). The Bank, however, had assets for which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements. 

 

The table below shows an analysis of all assets and liabilities for which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements 

by level of the fair value hierarchy. These are grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 

observable. 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 KShs KShs KShs 

31 December 2015    

    

Investments in government securities   4,927,349,810 - - 

    

31 December 2014    

    

Investments in government securities 3,926,120,459 - - 
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5. INTEREST INCOME 2015 2014 

 

 

KShs KShs 

 Interest income 

   Cash and cash equivalents 14,483,486 9,527,833 

 Investment securities 503,659,975 399,629,573 

 Loans and advances to customers     542,530,195 537,322,174 

    

 Total interest income 1,060,673,656 946,479,580 

    

6.  INTEREST EXPENSE 

      

 Deposits from customers 318,151,688 271,977,757 

 Deposits from banks 23,148,451    20,494,810 

 
 

 

  Total interest expense 341,300,139  292,472,567 

    

7. FEES AND COMMISSIONS   

 Fees and commissions    60,176,388   64,336,549 

    

8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
  

 
   

 Foreign exchange gain 32,391,139 25,742,019 

 Incidental charges 6,731,149 7,225,348 

 Miscellaneous income 4,097,982 5,053,490 

 Swift charges recovered 5,540,325 5,341,400 

 Profit on disposal of property and equipment - 955,000 

 Recovery of bad debts (Note 15 (b)) - 21,003,520 

 Others     2,506,725     2,275,194 

 
   

 
 

51,267,320   67,595,971 

    

9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
  

    

 

Personnel expenses 161,954,417 126,736,682 

 
Operating lease rentals (Note 29) 35,779,165 20,153,602 

 
Depreciation on property and equipment (Note 17) 17,365,850 13,956,079 

 
Establishment operating expenses 13,902,980 11,607,418 

 
Regional office expenses 4,401,738 9,772,358 

 
Travelling expenses 4,767,772 3,464,511 

 
Deposit Protection Fund 9,857,433 7,708,022 

 
Maintenance of office equipment 6.568,465 6,259,140 

 
Auditors’ remuneration 3,340,000 3,210,000 

 
Security charges 6,136,048 4,043,621 

 
Printing and stationery 4,447,950 2,706,614 

 
Outsourced services 4,438,534 2,853,567 

 
Increase in provision for gratuity 3,727,521 5,826,705 

 

Subscriptions and donations 3,702,379 2,172,880 

 
Other expenses    20,381,148    15,977,338 

    

  
294,202,935 236,448,537 
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2015 2014 

 
 

KShs KShs 

 

Profit before tax is arrived at after charging: 
  

 

Personnel expenses 161,954,417 126,736,682 

 

Depreciation on property and equipment (Note 17) 17,365,850 13,956,079 

 

Auditors’ remuneration        3,340,000   3,210,000 

    

 

And after crediting  
  

 

Foreign exchange gain 32,391,139 25,742,019 

 

Profit on disposal of property and equipment                      -       955,000 

    11.  INCOME TAX  

  11.1 PROFIT OR LOSS 
  

 Current income tax charge 233,271,817 207,990,386 

 Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous year 1,170,384 9,354,831 

 
 

234,442,201 217,345,217 

    

 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (Note 18)      (48,506,349) 
 

    (4,109,243) 

    

 
 

185,935,852 213,235,974 

    

 

The accounting profit on the Bank’s profit differs from the theoretical amount 

using the basic tax rate as follows: 
  

 

Accounting profit before tax 484,519,428 531,762,029 

 
   

 

Computed tax using the applicable corporation tax rate (37.5%) 181,694,786 199,410,761 

    

 Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous year 1,170,384  9,354,831 

 

Disallowable excess pension 685,751 454,178 

 

Disallowable staff benefits 861,769 243,638 

 

Adjustments in respect of head office expenses 1,650,652 3,298,171 

 Disallowable items related to property and equipment 764,520 315,122 

 Other disallowable expenses      (892,010)         159,273 

    

 

Income tax expense 185,935,852 213,235,974 

    11.2 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
  

    

 

INCOME TAX PAYABLE/ (RECOVERABLE 
  

    

 

Balance brought forward (5,436,941) (346,010) 

 

Tax charge for the year (Note 11.1) 234,442,201 217,345,217 

 

Tax paid in the year (148,167,779) (222,436,148) 

    

 

Closing balance as at 31 December     80,837,481     (5,436,941) 

    12. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA 

      

 

Cash in hand 129,937,773 76,925,290 

 

Balances with Central Bank of Kenya: 
  

 

-  Cash reserve ratio (CRR) 351,886,133 326,598,510 

 

-  Clearing balances    56,339,362    52,733,345 

    

 
 

538,163,268 456,257,145 
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12. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA (continued) 

  
The cash reserve ratio is non-interest bearing and is based on the value of deposits as adjusted for Central Bank of Kenya 

requirements. At 31 December 2015, the cash reserve requirement was 5.25% (2014 – 5.25%). Banks are required to 

maintain their CRR based on monthly average basis, free to deviate from the 5.25% on any given day but not to fall below 

3%, provided that the overall average for the month will be at least 5.25%. These funds are not available to finance the 

Bank’s day to day operations.  

 

13. INVESTMENTS 2015 2014 

  

KShs KShs 

 (a) Investments in Government securities  

   

 

Treasury bills  
  

 

 

Maturing within 90 days 2,076,911,000 987,711,568 

 

 

Maturing after 90 days but within 180 days 193,603,528  286,956,989 

 

 

Maturing after 180 days but within one year 1,274,819,000 1,669,891,062 

 

 
   

 

 

Treasury bonds – Held to maturity 
  

 

 

Maturing within 90 days - - 

 

 

Maturing after 90 days but within 3 years 1,500,000,000 1,120,071,846 

 

 
   

 

 
 

5,045,333,528 4,064,631,465 

 

     

 

The weighted average effective interest rate on Government securities at 31 December 2015 was 13.91% 

(2014 – 10.61%). 

 

     (b) Investments in commercial paper  

  

 
 

2015 2014 

 

 

Commercial paper  KShs KShs 

 

 
   

 

 

Maturing within 90 days 170,533,922 566,074,672 

 

 
   

 

 

The weighted average effective interest rate on commercial paper at 31 December 2015 was 17.49% (2014– 

13.07%). 

 

    14. 

 

BALANCES WITH BANKS AND BRANCHES 

 

 
 

   

 
 

2015 2014 

 

 
 

KShs KShs 

 

 
   

 

 

Balances with local banks   153,467,100 - 

  Balances with foreign banks        444,082         325,362 

 

 

Balances with Habib Bank branches 168,823,777 209,941,900 

     

   322,734,959 210,267,262 
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15. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 2015 2014 

 
 

KShs KShs 

    

 

(a) Overdrafts 800,241,606 917,130,457 

 

Loans 2,540,648,288 2,542,219,283 

 

Bills purchased 176,180,231 244,354,003 

 

Bills discounted    603,464,840     455,377,093 

 

Gross loans and advances 4,120,534,965 4,159,080,836 

    

 

Less:  impairment loss reserve [Note 15(b)]    (174,388,655)    (119,079,466) 

    

 

Net loans and advances  3,946,146,310  4,040,001,370 

    

Overdrafts: These are short term financing facilities under which the branch extends credit up to a maximum 

amount against which, a current account customer can write cheques or make withdrawals. Tenors range up to a 

maximum of one year. 

  

Loans: These are financing facilities that extend beyond one year but are limited to five years except for housing 

finance where the tenors are up to 15 years. These consist of short term loans, bridging loans and asset financing 

at competitive pricing subject to customers’ requirements and collateral held.  

 

Bills purchased: In relation to trade finance allows a seller to obtain financing and receive immediate funds in 

exchange for a sales document not drawn under a letter of credit. The Bank will send the sales documents to the 

buyer’s bank on behalf of the seller at competitive pricing subject to customers’ requirements and collateral held.  

 

Bills discounted: These are short term financing facilities which allow traders to obtain an advance from the branch 

pending receipt of their sale proceeds. The advance is based on the face value of the bills drawn by the seller. While 

discounting a bill, the Bank buys the bill (i.e. post dated cheques) before it is due and credits the value of the bill 

after a discount charge to the customer’s account at competitive pricing subject to customers’ requirements and 

collateral held. 

 

The weighted average effective interest rate on loans and advances at 31 December 2015 was 15.38% (2014 – 

13.07%).  
 

(b) Impairment loss reserve 

  
 2015  2014 

 KShs KShs 

   

At 1 January 119,079,466 140,404,926 

Provisions made in the year [Note 15 (c)] 52,094,862 17,728,967 

Interest suspended in the year 3,214,327 - 

Recoveries made in the year [Note (8)] - (21,003,520) 

Amounts written off during the year                       - (18,050,907) 

   

At 31 December  174,388,655 119,079,466 
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15. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued) 

 

     (c)  Impairment losses   2015 2014 

 
 

 KShs KShs 

     

 

 Impairment charge as per CBK prudential guidelines 247,482,914 56,505,453 

 

 IAS 39 adjustment (195,388,052)   (38,776,486) 

  

  

 

 
Impairment charge as per IAS 39 requirements    52,094,862     17,728,967 

  

 

The IAS 39 adjustment relates to excess provision for impairment of loans and advances determined in accordance 

with the Central Bank of Kenya’s prudential guidelines compared with the requirements of IAS 39. The adjustment is 

recognised as a statutory reserve and accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings in the statement of 

changes in equity.   

  
(d) Impaired loans and advances 2015 2014 

 
 

KShs KShs 

    

 

Impaired loans and advances (gross) [Note 3 (a)] 434,252,677 342,060,836 

 

Impairment loss reserve [Note 3 (a)] (152,085,438)  (100,545,033) 

    

 

Net non-performing loans 282,167,239   241,515,803 

    

 

The above loans have been written down to their recoverable amount. 

    

 

The estimated realisable value of the securities held against these amounts is KShs 369,075,000 (2014 – KShs 

388,500,000). Included in the gross impaired loans and advances is interest not received (suspended) as at year end 

of KShs 41,885,531 (2014 – KShs 38,671,203). 

 
16. OTHER ASSETS 2015 2014 

  

KShs KShs 

 
 

  

 

Stock of stationery - 769,245 

 

Deposits and prepayments 45,638,974 48,701,184 

    

  

45,638,974 49,470,429 

 
 

  

 

Other assets are settled no more than 12 months after reporting date apart from deposits and prepayments which are more 

than 12 months. 
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17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

2015 
  

Furniture, 
  

 
Office Motor fixtures and Leasehold 

 

 
equipment vehicles equipment improvements Total 

 
KShs KShs KShs KShs KShs 

Cost 
     

At 1 January 2015 52,640,713 13,916,575 17,001,851 37,766,601 121,325,740 

Additions 19,239,549   4,472,041    3,038,539   46,310,915    73,061,044 

      

At 31 December 2015 71,880,262 18,388,616 20,040,390 84,077,516 194,386,784 

      
Depreciation      

At 1 January 2015 42,436,203 2,993,817 13,716,422 31,715,518 90,861,960 

Charge for the year   6,489,455 3,619,474 1,661,174    5,595,747 17,365,850 

      

At 31 December 2015 48,925,658 6,613,291 15,377,596 37,311,265 108,227,810 

      Net carrying amount 
     

At 31 December 2015 22,954,604 11,775,325 4,662,794 46,766,251 86,158,974 

 

 

2014 
  

Furniture, 
  

 
Office Motor fixtures and Leasehold 

 

 
equipment vehicles equipment improvements Total 

 
KShs KShs KShs KShs KShs 

Cost 
     

At 1 January 2014 57,846,554 7,006,168 17,542,253 37,766,601 120,161,576 

Additions 561,750 12,751,575 17,083 - 13,330,408 

Disposals  (5,767,591)   (5,841,168)     (557,485)                     - (12,166,244) 

      

At 31 December 2014  52,640,713  13,916,575 17,001,851 37,766,601 121,325,740 

      
Depreciation      

At 1 January 2014 41,647,969 6,598,415 13,277,076 27,548,665 89,072,125 

Charge for the year 6,555,825 2,236,570 996,831 4,166,853 13,956,079 

Disposal  (5,767,591)  (5,841,168)    (557,485)                    - (12,166,244) 

      

At 31 December 2014 42,436,203   2,993,817 13,716,422 31,715,518  90,861,960 

      Net carrying amount 
     

At 31 December 2014 10,204,510 10,922,758   3,285,429   6,051,083 30,463,780 
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSET 
 

The deferred tax asset is attributable to the following: 

 

2015    

Deferred tax asset 
Balance at 

01.01.2015 

Recognized in profit 

or loss 

Balance at 

31.12.2015 

 

KShs KShs KShs 

Arising from: 

   Equipment and motor vehicles 6,283,956 (518,002) 5,765,954 

Provision for honorarium, gratuity, Bonus and staff 

leave 

 

3,828,146 

 

42,738,259 

 

46,566,405 

General provision on loans and advances 16,650,513 6,286,092 22,936,605 

  
  

Deferred tax asset 26,762,615 48,506,349 75,268,964 

 

2014    

Deferred tax asset 
Balance at 

01.01.2014 

Recognized in profit 

or loss 

Balance at 

31.12.2014 

 

KShs KShs KShs 

Arising from: 

   Equipment and motor vehicles 4,682,639 1,601,317 6,283,956 

Provision for honorarium, gratuity, Bonus and staff 

leave 

 

3,183,990 

 

644,156 

 

3,828,146 

General provision on loans and advances 14,786,743 1,863,770 16,650,513 

    Deferred tax asset 22,653,372 4,109,243 26,762,615 

 

19. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 

 
   2015 2014 

  KShs KShs 

    

Term deposits  3,334,344,301 2,895,086,768 

Current deposits  2,253,134,991 2,108,495,118 

Savings deposits  1,107,639,546 1,169,511,811 

Other     166,135,514    225,849,998 

    

  6,861,254,352 6,398,943,695 

    

Term deposits - These are interest-bearing accounts that are opened for a specific period of time at a fixed rate of interest. 

Funds are fixed on the account for specified term periods of time. Interest is calculated daily and paid only on maturity of the 

deposits. Interest rates are offered at competitive and attractive rates. 

 

Current accounts – These are non-interest bearing accounts that are due on demand. They are operated by both individuals 

and institutions with the use of a cheque book. They are subject to monthly fees. 

 

Savings accounts – These are deposit accounts that enable customers to save funds and earn interest and are generally due on 

demand. Interest is graduated on the level of balance held in the account and paid on a minimum monthly balance. The 

interest is paid into the account bi-annually. 
 
The weighted average effective interest rate paid on the customer deposits at 31 December 2015 was 8.58% (2014 – 4.36%).  
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20. AMOUNTS DUE TO FOREIGN AND LOCAL BANKS  2015 2014 

  

KShs KShs 

    

 
Due within one year 

  

 

Amounts due to head office 142,890,231 125,979,709 

 
Amounts due to foreign and local banks     861,557,000 865,380,200 

    

  

1,004,447,231 991,359,909 

    

 

Amounts due to head office are current account and due on demand whereas Amounts due to foreign and local banks include 

inter-bank placements with other local banks and deposits from HBL branches. The effective interest rate as at 31 December 

2015 was 3.23% (2014: 0.35%) 

        21. OTHER LIABILITIES 2015 2015 

  
KShs KShs 

    

 
Bills payable 50,911,261 56,512,121 

 
Gratuity - Note 22.2 38,100,000 27,015,003 

 
Other accounts payable 22,617,386 19,804,804 

 
Items in transit 23,261,364 13,562,103 

 
Unclaimed bills     1,097,786        640,066 

    

  

135,987,797 117,534,097 

    

 

Other liabilities are non-interest bearing and have an average term period of no more than 12 months after reporting date apart 

from gratuity. 

 

22. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 
 

22.1 Defined contribution plan 
 

The Bank contributes to a statutory defined contribution pension scheme, the National Social Security Fund (NSSF). 
 

The Bank contributes to a provident fund established for the benefit of the employees. The Bank matches the contributions 

made by employees up to 5% of the employee’s basic salary. The contributions are charged to profit or loss in the period in 

which they relate.  
  

  

2015 2014 

  

KShs KShs 

    

 
National Social Security Fund 12,800 9,600 

 
Provident fund    3,414,274 3,208,638 

    

 
 

   3,427,074 3,218,238 

    22.2 Provision for gratuity 

  

 

At 1 January 27,015,003 23,395,579 

 

Charge for the year 13,203,959 5,826,705 

 
Payments (2,118,962)   (2,207,281) 

    

 

At 31 December   38,100,000  27,015,003 
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22. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 

22.2 Provision for gratuity (continued) 
 

The Bank’s gratuity arrangement is subjected to valuation by independent actuaries. The gratuity was revalued as at 31 

December 2015 by Alexander Forbes Financial Services (East Africa) Limited. 

The principal features of the actuarial valuation were as follows: 
 

 Actuarial method : Projected Unit Method 

 Rate of interest : 14% per annum 

 Rate of salary escalation : 10%p.a. in the first year; 6%p.a. thereafter; 

 Pre-retirement mortality : A1949/52 Ultimate 
 

23. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 2015 2014 

 KShs KShs 

(a) Assigned capital   
 

1 January and 31 December 1,044,226,302 1,044,226,302 

 

This relates to paid-up capital that the head office, Habib Bank Limited, has invested in the Branch. The Branch is wholly 

owned by the head office. 
 

(b) Statutory credit risk reserve 
 

IAS 39 requires the Bank to recognise impairment losses when there is objective evidence that loans and advances are 

impaired. Central Bank of Kenya prudential guidelines, on the other hand, requires the Bank to recognise impairment 

losses on loans and advances based on a prescribed formula.  Where impairment losses required by Central Bank of Kenya 

prudential guidelines exceed those computed under IAS 39, the excess is recognised as a statutory credit risk reserve and 

accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings and not expense in determining profit or loss. This reserve is not 

distributable. 

 

 

24. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents 

 

   Change during 

 2015 2014 the year 

 KShs KShs KShs 

    

Cash and balances with Central Bank of 

Kenya – excluding CRR (note 12) 

 

186,277,135 

 

129,658,635 

 

56,618,500 

Balances due from banking Institutions (note 

14) 

 

322,734,959 

 

210,267,262 

 

112,467,697 

Balances due to banking institutions (note 

20) 

 

(1,004,447,231) 

 

(991,359,909) 

 

(13,087,322) 

Investment in Government securities due 

within 90 days (note 13(a)) 

   

2,076,911,000 

 

987,711,568 

 

1,089,199,432 

Investment in commercial paper due within 

90 days (note 13(b)) 

 

    170,533,922 

 

566,074,672 

 

(395,540,750) 

    

 1,752,009,785 902,352,228   849,657,557 

    

The cash reserve ratio is not available to finance the Bank’s day-to-day operations and, therefore, it has not been included as 

part of the Bank’s cash and cash equivalents. 
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25. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled 

 

31-Dec-15 KShs KShs KShs 

 
Within 12 months After 12 months Total 

ASSETS  
   

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 538,163,268 - 538,163,268 

Investments in government securities  4,445,333,528 600,000,000  5,045,333,528  

Investment in commercial paper 170,533,922 - 170,533,922 

Balances with banks and branches 322,734,959 - 322,734,959 

Loans and advances to customers 3,192,506,777 753,639,533 3,946,146,310 

Other assets 45,638,974 - 45,638,974 

Property and equipment - 86,158,974 86,158,974 

Deferred tax asset                          -       75,268,964        75,268,964 

    TOTAL ASSETS  8,714,911,428 1,515,067,471 10,229,978,899 

    LIABILITIES 
   

Customers deposits 6,861,254,352 - 6,861,254,352 

Amounts due to foreign and local banks  1,004,447,231 - 1,004,447,231 

Other liabilities 135,987,797                      - 135,987,797 

Tax payable      80,837,481                           - 80,837,481 

    
TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,082,526,861                         - 8,082,526,861 

    NET     632,384,567 1,515,067,471 2,147,452,038 

 

31-Dec-14 KShs KShs KShs 

 
Within 12 months After 12 months Total 

ASSETS  
   

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 456,257,145 - 456,257,145 

Investments in government securities   3,164,631,465      900,000,000      4,064,631,465 

Investment in commercial paper 566,074,672 - 566,074,672 

Balances with banks and branches 210,267,262 - 210,267,262 

Loans and advances to customers 3,211,399,144 828,602,226 4,040,001,370 

Other assets 49,470,429 - 49,470,429 

Property and equipment - 30,463,780 30,463,780 

Tax recoverable 5,436,941 - 5,436,941 

Deferred tax asset                          -       26,762,615       26,762,615 

    TOTAL ASSETS  7,663,537,058 1,785,828,621 9,449,365,679 

    LIABILITIES 
   

Customers deposits 6,398,943,695 - 6,398,943,695 

Amounts due to foreign and local banks  991,359,909 - 991,359,909 

Other liabilities     117,534,097                          -    117,534,097 

    TOTAL LIABILITIES  7,507,837,701                           - 7,507,837,701 

    
NET    155,699,357 1,785,828,621 1,941,527,978 
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26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS  

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank conducts business involving guarantees, irrevocable letters of credit, bills of collections 

and forward exchange contracts. These facilities are offset by corresponding obligations of third parties.  At the year end, the 

contingencies were as follows: 

 

 2015 2014 

 KShs KShs 

Commitments with respect to:    

Irrevocable letters of credit 356,679,912 343,894,832 

Guarantees 557,162,258 355,384,599 

Bills for collection 498,897,774 314,255,703 

Spot exchange contracts       62,928,500      70,151,000 

   

 1,475,668,444 1,083,686,134 

Nature of contingent liabilities and commitments 

 

Letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments to third parties, on production of documents, which are subsequently reimbursed by 

customers. 

 

Guarantees are generally written by a Bank to support performance by a customer to third parties. The bank will only be required to meet 

these obligations in the event of the customer’s default. 

 

Bills for collection are cheques, drawn against foreign or local banks, deposited by the Bank’s customers, which are in the process of 

clearing with the correspondent banks. 

 

Spot exchange contracts are either purchases or sales of designated foreign exchange currency at a specified date awaiting transfer 

at a specified price. 

 

27. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 

 

Related party transactions/balances in the year are as detailed below: 

 

(a) Loans and advances to employees 

 2015 2014 

 KShs KShs 

   

Balance  as at 1 January   32,398,067 48,692,598 

Loans advances during the year 11,501,364 2,997,634 

Loan repayments received     (4,493,687)  (19,292,165) 

   

Balance at 31 December    39,405,744   32,398,067 

   

The related interest income in 2015 was KShs 1,421,750 (2014 – KShs 1,586,582). The value of collateral held is KShs 

58,200,000 (2014: KShs 48,040,000). The effective interest rate was 8.06% (2014: 6.11%). The loans’ tenors stretch 

to a maximum of 15 years. 
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27. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 

(b) Transactions with key management personnel 
 

Key management personnel and their immediate relatives have transacted with the Bank during the period as follows: 

 
2015 2014 

 
Maximum Maximum 

 
balance balance 

 
KShs KShs 

   

Mortgage lending and other secured loans 3,194,058 36,730,361 

Other loans 2,345,588 12,011,480 

   
 

5,539,646 48,741,841 

 

No impairment losses have been recorded against outstanding loan balances with the employees during the year. 

 

The value of collateral held for mortgage lending and other secured loans is KShs 58,200,000 (2014: KShs 15,000,000). 

The loans tenor stretch to a maximum of 15 years. The interest rates vary according to the credit policy on specific type of 

loan taken. 

 

(c) Key management personnel compensation for the year comprised: 

 

 2015 2014 

 KShs KShs 

   

Short-term employee benefits 28,623,566 26,818,314 

Post-employment benefits        596,718    2,207,281 

     

 29,220,284 29,025,595 

   

In addition to their salaries, the Bank also provides non-cash benefits to its executive officers and contributes to a post-

employment defined contribution plan on their behalf. In accordance with the terms of the plan, the local officers retire at 

age 55, expatriate officers at 60 and are entitled to their full benefits at retirement. 

 

  

2015 2014 

  

KShs KShs 

    (d) Current account balances with Habib Bank’s branches 168,823,777 209,941,900 

    

 

The current accounts are non-interest earning. Transactions entered with other Habib Bank branches are in the normal 

course of business. 
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

    

  

2015 2014 

  

KShs KShs 

 
 

  (e)   Amounts due to other Habib Bank’s branches  654,447,231   941,359,909  

 
 

  

 

The related interest paid in 2015 was KShs 12,676,696 (2014 – KShs 3,539,804). The effective interest rate was 

3.23% (2014: 0.35%).  

 

Amounts due to other Habib Bank’s branches are borrowings that are generally due within 90 days. 

 

28. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY 

 

As at 31 December 2015 there were no assets pledged to secure liabilities. 

 

29. OPERATING LEASES 

      

 

Operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 2015 2014 

  

KShs KShs 

 
 

  

 

Less than one year 32,923,569 18,707,036 

 

Between one and five years      96,576,777 56,121,108 

 
 

  

  

   129,500,346  74,828,144 

   

The Bank pays rent for its premises under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of between three and five 

years with an option to renew the lease after that date. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. During the year ended 31 

December 2015, KShs 35,779,165 (2014 – KShs 20,153,602) was recognised as an expense in profit or loss, under other 

operating expense in respect of operating leases. 

 

30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

 

There are no authorised capital commitments that are outstanding (2014: Nil). 

 

31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

 

No material events or circumstances have arisen between the reporting date and the date of this report. 

 

 

 


